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Docket Nos.«030-20020 9 MM\ 1987 License Nos. 20-19761-020"
030-19201 . 20-19761-01

Dana Farber Cancer Institute
ATTN: William M, Corbett, Jr,
Associate Director for
Research Administration
44 Binney Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02115

Gentlemen:
Subject: Routine Inspestion No. 87-00]

On May 28 and 29, 1987, Mr. Lester Tripp and Mr. John Miller of this office
conducted a rovtirne safety inspection &t the above address of activities
authorized by the above 11sted NEC Ticenses. The inspection was an exarinaticr
of your licensed activities as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance
with the Commissiun's reguiations and the license conditions. The inspection
consisted of nbservations by the inspector, interviews with personnel, and 2
selective examination of representative records., In addition, our inspecticn
examined the activities covered in your letter dated July 25, 1985, The
fincings of the inspection were discussed with you and Dr. Treves and Mr, Amoling
of your staff at the conclusion of the inspection,

Based on the results of this inspection, 1t appears that your activities were
not conducted in full compliance with NRC requirements. A Notice of Violation
is enclosed as Appendix P &nd categorizes each violation by severity level in
accordance with the "General Statement of Policy and Procedure for NRC Enforce-
ment Actions," 10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C (Enforcement Policy). You are
required to respond to this letter and in preparing your response, you should
follow the instructions in Appendix A,

In accordance with Section 2.790 of the NRC's “"Rules of Practice,” Part 2,
Title 10, Code of Federa) Regulations, a copy of this letter and your reply
will be placed in the Public Document Room.

The responses directed by this letter and the accompanying Notice are not
subject to the clearance procedures of the (ffice of Hanogcunnt and Budget as
required by the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980, PL 96-511.

Item A described in the attached Notice of Violation invoiving the storage and
control of licensed material is classified as & Severity Level IV violation,
As indicated in Supplement 1V of the NRC Enforcement Policy, significant
violations of this type are normally classified as Severity Level III.
However, after careful consideration of the factors involved in this specific
instance, 1t is felt this incident posed a minimal health and safety problem,
We have exercised our judgment under the NRC Enforcement Policy and have
classified this violation as Severity Level IV. Similar violations of this
type in the future may result in additional enforcement action.
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APPENDIY A
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Dana Farber Cancer Institute Docket No. 030-20020
Boston, Massachusetts 02115 License No, 20-19761-02

As ° result of the inspection conducted on May 28 and 29, 1987, and in
accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the
following violations were 1dentified:

A, 10 CFR 20,207(a) requires that 1icensed materials stored in an unr_stricted
éres be securec against unauthorized removal from the place of storage.
10 CFR 20,207(b) requires that materials not in storage be under constant
surveillance and immediate control of the 1icensee. As defined in 10 CFR
20.3(a)(17), an unrestrictec area 1s any ares access to which 1s not
controlled by the licensee for purposes of protection of individuals from
exposure to racietion and radicaciive materials.

Lontrary to the above, on May 28, 1987, the Nuclear Medicine Laboratory,
which contained millicurie quantities of 1icensed material, was unlockea
when 1t was not under constant surveillance and fmmediate control,

This 1s a Severity Level IV violation, (Supplement 1V)

B. Condition 25 of License No, 20-19761-02 requires that licensed materia)
be possessed and used in sccordance with statements, representations and
procecdures contained in an application dated January 17, 1984,

Item h on page 17 of the Radiation Safety Manual enclosed with the above
application requires that each person who performs an fodination
involving 1000 microcuries or move must have a thyroid scan performec
within one month of each fodination.

Contrary to the above, as of May 29, 1987, researchers had performed
fodinations involving 1000 microcuries or more of fodine~125 and had not
had their thyroids scanned within one month of each fodination,

This 1s a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2,201, Dana Farber Cancer Institute 1s
hereby required to submit to this office within thirty days of the date of the
letter which transmitted this Notice, a written statement or explanation in
reply, including; il the corrective steps which have been taken and the
results schieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to avoia further
violations; and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where
Qo0d cause 1s shown, consideration will be given to extending this response
time.
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CANCER INSTITUTE THE JIMMY FUND
44 Buinrwy Street. Boston MA 02115

WILLIAM M CORBETT JR
Assnr s Dopcin
Of Resear it Avnigttehier

December 14, 1987

Mr. John R, White, Chief

Nuclear Materials Safety Section C

Division of Radiation Safety and Safeguards
Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Region 1

631 Park Avenue

King of Prussia, Pa. 19406

REF: Docket Nos. 030~20020
030~19201
License Nos., 20~19761-01
20-19761-02

Dear Mr. White:

I am responding to your letter of November 20, 1987
regarding Routine Inspection No. 87-001 conducted on May 28 and
29, 1987 at the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute. As a result of
that inspection two Severity Level IV violations were
identified which regquire a response as to the corrective action
taken regarding the violation.

i The first violation concerned a room in the Nuclear
Medicine Laboratory which contained millicurie gquantities of
licensed materiz) which was unlocked when not under constant
surveillance and immediate control and therefore open to
possible access by unauthorized individuals. In response to
this violation the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute subseguent to
the inspection, installed a2 push button combination lock set
in the room. This lockin? device keeps the door to the room
locked at all times and limits the access to the room te only
those individuals authorized.

The second violation concerned researchers who performed
iodinations invelving 1000 microcuries or more of iodine-125
but had not reported for the thyroid scans within one month of
the iodination. 1In response to this vioclation those
researchers who were in viclation at the time of the inspect i on
were individually notified by the Associate Director for
Research Administration that they were in violation of NRC
regulations and to report for their thyroid scans immediately
v *nco{:rsponuion from further iodination work until the
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required scan is done. Those individual reported for thyroid
scans.

To prevent further viclations of this nature, a general
notice was sent to all researchers who perform iodinations
reninding them of the thyroid scan requirement. Also, notices
have been posted on all lodination hoods as a further reainder.
In addition, reminder notices sent to individuals who fail to
meet their requirement for as thyroid scan are copied to the
Asgociate Director of Research Administration. The Associate
Director upon such notification makes perscnal contact with
each violator stressing the importance of the thyroid scan and
an indicating that action will be taken to suspend them from
further iodination work unless they report for their scan
immediately., Thie procedure appears to work gquite effectively.

In light of the corrective action already taken by Dana~
Farber Cancer Institute regarding the violations identified by
the inspection of May 28 and 29, 1987, I can now assure you
that we are in full compliance.

Sincerely,

Wttanids.
William M. Corbetf,

Associate Directo
Research Administration

cc: Mr. Ronald Ameling, RSD
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